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PER CURI AM

A federal grand jury indicted Carrie B. Houser on one
count of conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute two
kil ograns or nore of cocai ne after havi ng been convi cted previously
of felony possession of opium on or about Novenber 19, 1987, in
violation of 21 U.S.C. 88 846, 841, and 851 (2000), and one count
of conspiracy to inport into the United States two kil ogranms or
nore of cocaine after having been previously convicted of felony
possessi on of opiumon or about Novenber 19, 1987, in violation of
21 U.S.C 88 963 and 960 (2000). The governnent filed an
information pursuant to 21 US C 8§ 851, stating that on
Novenber 19, 1987, Houser was convicted in the Superior Court of
Essex County, New Jersey, of possession of opium On July 3, 2001,
Houser pled guilty without a plea agreenent to both counts of the
i ndi ct ment.

The district court sentenced Houser to 120 nonths in
prison. Houser tinely appeal ed. Counsel has filed a brief in

accordance with Anders v. California, 386 U S. 738 (1967), stating

that, in his opinion, there are no neritorious grounds for appeal,
but arguing that the district court erred in inposing an enhanced
sentence pursuant to 21 U S. C § 851. Counsel and Houser have

filed supplenmental briefs addressing the inpact of United States v.

Booker, 125 S. . 738 (2005), on Houser’'s sentence. W affirm

Houser’s convi ctions and sentence.



Under 21 U. S.C. 88 841(b)(1) and 960(b)(2)(B), the
statutory sentence for possession of nore than 500 grans of cocai ne
is a mninmumof five years and a maxi num of forty years. |If the
defendant has a prior felony drug conviction, however, the
mandatory m ni num sentence is ten years and the statutory maxi num
sentence is life inprisonnent. Id. The indictnent, to which
Houser pled guilty, charged her with conspiracy to possess wth
intent to distribute and to inport two Kkilograms or nore of
cocaine. The district court, finding that Houser was responsible
for nore than 500 grans but |ess than two kil ograns of cocai ne for
sentenci ng purposes, concluded that Houser was subject to the
enhancenent based on her Novenber 1987 conviction for possession
with intent to distribute a controlled substance.

Houser argues that she is not subject to the enhanced
penalty for a prior felony conviction because the pretrial notice
she received pursuant to 21 U S.C. 8 851 was i nadequate to support
an enhanced sentence in that it cited a charge that had been
di sm ssed rat her than the of fense for whi ch she had been convi ct ed.
Because Houser failed to challenge the §8 851 enhancenent in the
district court, it is reviewed for plain error. Fed. R Cim P.

52(b); United States v. dano, 507 U. S. 725, 731-32 (1993).

Section 851(a)(1l) states in relevant part:

No person . . . shall be sentenced to increased
puni shrent by reason of one or nore prior convictions,
unl ess before trial, or before entry of a plea of guilty,
the United States attorney files an information with the
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court (and serves a copy of such information on the
person or counsel for the person) stating in witing the
previ ous convictions to be relied upon.
Id. The purpose of § 851 is to allow the defendant an opportunity
to contest the validity of the prior convictions used to enhance

his sentence. United States v. King, 127 F.3d 483, 489 (6th G

1997); United States v. Gonzalez-Lerma, 71 F.3d 1537, 1541 (10th

Cr. 1995); United States v. WIllianms, 59 F.3d 1180, 1185 (11th

Cir. 1995); United States v. Steen, 55 F.3d 1022, 1026 (5th G r

1995); United States v. Canpbell, 980 F.2d 245, 252 (4th Crr.

1992). The 8 851 notice nust contain sufficient information to
enabl e the defendant to identify the prior conviction upon which
enhancenent is based and make an infornmed decision regarding

whet her to challenge the information. United States v. Severino,

316 F.3d 939, 943 (9th Gir.), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 827 (2003);

United States v. Layne, 192 F. 3d 556, 576 (6th Gr. 1999). Even if

there are errors in the 8 851 information, “[i]f the defendant,
reading the information in context, wll have no trouble
understanding which prior conviction the prosecutor neans to
identify, the information then has stat[ed] . . . the previous
convictions, and the statutory purpose of providing defendant
noti ce has been satisfied.” Severino, 316 F. 3d at 943-44 (i nternal
citation and quotation omtted); Steen, 55 F.3d at 1028.

In this case, the 8§ 851 notice identified Houser’s prior

felony drug offense as a Novenber 19, 1987 conviction for



possession of opium (R 12). In fact, Houser’s Novenber 19, 1987
conviction was for possession wth intent to distribute a
control |l ed substance; the possession charge had been dism ssed.
Al t hough the governnent incorrectly identified the conviction as
for “possession” instead of for “possession with intent to
distribute,” the information correctly identified the date of the
drug conviction and the court in which the conviction occurred.
Under these circunstances, we conclude that the 8 851 notice
provi ded Houser with sufficient notice to identify the conviction
upon which the governnment relied in seeking the enhancenent.
Houser also argues that her sentence could not be

enhanced because the district court failed to conply with the
requi renents of 8 851(b). This provision states:

If the United States attorney files an i nfornmati on under

this section, the court shall after conviction but before

pronouncenent of sentence inquire of the person wth

respect to whom the information was filed whether he

affirnms or denies that he has been previously convicted

as alleged in the information, and shall informhimthat

any challenge to a prior conviction which is not nmade

before sentence is inposed may not thereafter be raised

to attack the sentence.
ld. However, the district court failed to conduct such a col |l oquy

in this case.

In United States v. Ellis, 326 F. 3d 593 (4th Gr.), cert.

deni ed, 540 U.S. 907 (2003), the defendant chall enged the district
court’s failure to conduct a 8§ 851(b) colloquy. The governnent

notified the defendant that it was seeking an enhanced sentence



based on prior convictions. 1d. at 596. The presentence report
(“PSR’) again al so advi sed the defendant of the aggravating effect
of the prior convictions. The defendant did not object to that
portion of the PSR and acknow edged the aggravating effect of the
prior convictions at the sentencing hearing. 1d. at 599. This
court concluded that the district court’s failure to conply with
the notification requirenent of 8 851(b) was plain error. Id.
Nonet hel ess, the court held that, because the defendant apparently
was on notice of the enhancenent and failed to object to it, the
error did not affect his substantial rights. 1d. (applying plain
error anal ysis).

Simlarly, in this case, Houser received 8 851 notice
whi ch, as stated above, adequately notified her of the prior felony
drug offense upon which the governnent sought to enhance her
sentence. The prior felony drug offense was included in the PSR,
both in the career offender section and in the discussion of
Houser’s crimnal history, yet Houser made no objection to the
validity of this conviction. Finally, the court nade clear at
sent enci ng t hat Houser faced a statutory mandatory m ni numsent ence
and gave Houser an opportunity to speak before pronouncing
sentence. Even so, Houser did not object to the use of her prior
conviction to enhance her sentence. Because it is clear fromthe
record that Houser would not have chall enged her prior conviction

even if the district court had conducted the 8§ 851 colloquy, we
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find that the court’s failure to conply with the § 851(b)
requi renents did not affect Houser’s substantial rights.

In addition, Houser argues that her sentence is invalid
under Booker. The Suprene Court held in Booker that the mandatory
manner in which the federal sentencing guidelines required courts
to i npose sent enci ng enhancenents based on facts found by the court
by a preponderance of the evidence violated the Sixth Amendnent.
Booker, 125 S. C. at 750. The Court renedied the constitutional
violation by severing two statutory provisions, 18 US C 8§
3553(b) (1) (2000) (requiring courts to i npose a sentence withinthe
applicable guideline range), and 18 U S C. 8§ 3742(e) (2000)
(setting forth appel | ate standards of revi ewfor guidelineissues),
t her eby maki ng the guidelines advisory. |[d. at 756-57. Houser’s
sentence did not inplicate Booker because it was based on facts she
admtted in her guilty plea and the fact of a prior conviction
See id. at 756.

As required by Anders, we have exanmned the entire
record in this case and found no error. Accordingly, we affirm
Houser’s convictions and sentence. This court requires that
counsel informhis client in witing of her right to petition the
Suprene Court of the United States for further review. [|f Houser
requests that a petition be filed, but counsel believes that such
a petition would be frivol ous, then counsel may nove in this court

for leave to withdraw fromrepresentation. Counsel’s notion nust



state that a copy thereof was served on Houser. W dispense with
oral argunent because the facts and Ilegal contentions are
adequately presented in the materi als before the court and ar gunent
woul d not aid the decisional process.

AFFI RVED



